IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

OCT 15 1985

COMMIS	SSION ON ETHICS,))	CLERK, SUPREME COURT		
	OF FLORIDA, ETC.,))	Ву_	Chief Deputy Clerk	
٧.	Appellants,) CASE	NO.	67,689	
WILMA	SULLIVAN, ET AL.,)			
	Appellees.)			

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

JIM SMITH Attorney General

ARDEN M. SIEGENDORF Assistant Attorney General The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301

PHILIP C. CLAYPOOL Staff Attorney Commission on Ethics Post Office Box 6 Tallahassee, Florida 32302

COUNSEL FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA COMMISSION ON ETHICS

INTRODUCTION

Appellants, the State of Florida Commission on Ethics and its members, Defendants below, will be referred to in this brief as the Commission on Ethics or as the Commission. Appellees, Wilma Sullivan and John Sullivan, Plaintiffs below, will be referred to as Appellees or as the Sullivans. As all pages in the Record have been numbered consecutively, page references to the Record will be made as R [page number]. All emphasis has been supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Except as otherwise noted, all facts contained in this statement have been taken from the parties' Stipulation of Facts. (R 1,272-1,314).

On January 27, 1981, a sworn complaint was filed with the State of Florida Commission on Ethics alleging that Wilma Sullivan violated Section 116.111, Florida Statutes, and thereby breached the public trust (referencing Article II, Section 8(f), Florida Constitution) while serving as Supervisor of Elections for Leon County, Florida. At the time the complaint was filed, Wilma Sullivan held no public office or employment, although she was Supervisor of Elections at the time of the actions alleged in the complaint.

Also on January 27, 1981, a separate sworn Complaint was filed with the Commission alleging that John Sullivan violated Section 99.012(7), Florida Statutes, and thereby breached the public trust (referencing Article II, Section 8 (f), Florida Constitution) while serving as Deputy Supervisor of Elections for Leon County, Florida. At the time the complaint was filed, John Sullivan was Supervisor of Elections for Leon County, Florida.

On February 25, 1981, the Commission determined that the complaints were legally sufficient and ordered a preliminary investigation of the complaints.

By letters dated March 17, 1981, Wilma Sullivan and John Sullivan were formally notified that a hearing would be held before the Commission on April 1, 1981, to determine the manner of disposition of the complaints pursuant to Commission Rule 34-5.06, F.A.C.

On March 19, 1981, the Sullivans filed Motions to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction. The motions were heard at the April 1, 1981, meeting of the Commission, at which time the Commission voted to continue the matters pending receipt of memoranda of law. On May 13, 1981, the matters were reconsidered and reargued before the Commission. The Motions to Dismiss were denied and a public hearing was ordered each complaint as to whether John Sullivan breached the public trust by his failure to take a leave of absence from his position as Deputy Supervisor of Elections as required by Section 99.012(7), Florida Statutes, when he sought election to the position of Leon County Supervisor of Elections; and as to whether Wilma Sullivan breached the public trust by the appointment as Leon County Supervisor of Elections of her son to serve as Deputy Supervisor of Elections, and by her appointment, or advocacy of the appointment or employment, of other relatives to positions in the office of the Supervisor of Elections in Leon County, in violation of Section 116.111, Florida Statutes.

On May 22, 1981, Wilma Sullivan sought a Writ of Prohibition from the First District Court of Appeal. On June 25, 1981, the Court denied the Petition.

On June 12, 1981, the Sullivans appealed the above orders of the Commission and other issues directly to the First District Court of Appeal. On October 23, 1981, the District Court of Appeal issued a "Per Curiam Affirmed" opinion. Sullivan v. Florida Commission on Ethics, 407 So.2d 1110 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

Previously, on May 27, 1981, the Sullivans had filed individual complaints against the Commission in the Circuit Court, Leon County, seeking declaratory judgments and injunctive relief. (R 1-12)

On March 4, 1982, the Circuit Court rendered a Final Declaratory Judgement holding, in essence, that the Commission had no jurisdiction over the complaints against the Sullivans. By its Revised Opinion dated April 19, 1983, the First District Court of Appeal quashed the judgment of that Court and held, in essence, that its earlier "Per Curiam Affirmed" decision was res judicata on the issue of the Commission's jurisdiction over the complaints and that the Commission had jurisdiction over the complaints at least under Chapter 112, Florida Statutes. This Court subsequently denied review of that decision. State Commission on Ethics v. Sullivan, 430 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), pet. for rev. den., 436 So.2d 101 (Fla. 1983).

On September 16, 1983, the Circuit Court entered a non-final order holding that the Commission was subject to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, and should proceed in accordance with that Chapter on the complaints against the Sullivans. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed by opinion dated March 27, 1984, and this Court subsequently denied review. State Commission on Ethics v. Sullivan, 449 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), pet. for rev. den., 458 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1984).

After holding a "probable cause" hearing, the Commission by order dated February 1, 1985, found probable cause and ordered a public hearing on the question of whether John Sullivan violated Section 112.313(6), Florida Statutes, arising from his failure to resign or take a leave of absence without pay from his position as Deputy Supervisor of Elections while a candidate for Leon County Supervisor of Elections during the 1980 election, as required by Section 99.012(7), Florida Statutes. Following a "probable cause" hearing the Commission also by order dated February 1, 1985, found probable cause and ordered a public hearing on the question of whether Wilma Sullivan violated Section 112.313(6), Florida Statutes, arising from her hiring of relatives contrary to Section 116.111, Florida Statutes.

Section 112.320, Florida Statutes, creates the Florida Commission on Ethics. Section 112.321(1), Florida Statutes, provides that the Commission is to be composed of nine members to be appointed as follows:

- (a) Five members by the Governor, no more than three of whom shall be from the same political party, and one of whom shall be a former city or county official;
- (b) Two members by the Speaker of the House of Representatives;
- (c) Two members by the President of the Senate.

Section 112.321(1) further provides that neither the Speaker nor the President shall appoint more than one member from the same political party; no member may hold any public employment; and no member shall serve more than two full terms in succession.

The members of the Commission on Ethics on January 1, 1981 and those members who have served on the Commission since that date were appointed in conformance with the above-described statutory criteria.

Between July 1, 1975 and October 1, 1982, Section 112.321, Florida Statutes, provided for a nine-member Commission on Ethics with two members appointed by the Speaker of the House and the President of the Senate each, and with only four members appointed by the Governor. In accordance with Attorney General Opinion AGO 76-152, the ninth member was appointed by the Governor in order to fill that vacancy in office.

On August 27, 1985 the Circuit Court entered a Final Order on the two remaining issues in the instant case. (R 1,437-1,443) First, the

Court held that the title of Chapter 79-391, Laws of Florida, which amended Section 99.012, Florida Statutes, was sufficient to provide the notice required by Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution. The Sullivans have not noticed an appeal of this issue, and as the holding is not adverse to the Commission, further discussion is pretermitted.

The second issue resolved by the Circuit Court concerned the validity of Section 112.321(1), Florida Statutes, the trial court holding that Section 112.321(1) is unconstitutional by virtue of its violation of Article II, Section 3, Article X, Section 3, and Article IV, Section 6, Florida Constitution.

The Commission filed its notice of appeal to the First District Court of Appeal on August 29, 1985. (R 1,444) On Appellants' suggestion, the District Court subsequently certified the appeal directly to this Court as one requiring immediate resolution. (R 1,446). This Court accepted jurisdiction by order dated October 1, 1985.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 112.321(1), Florida Statutes, providing for the appointment of members of the Florida Commission on Ethics, is not unconstitutional.

By its nature as an independent watchdog agency, the Commission is designed to uniquely function in all three branches of state government, does in fact so function, and is not constitutionally precluded from being composed of gubernatorial and legislative appointees.

Although the 1885 Florida Constitution contained an appointments clause which required the Governor to appoint all non-elective state officers, the 1968 Constitution deleted said provision, thus permitting the present method of appointments to the Commission. Neither Article IV, Sections 1(f) or 6 nor Article II, Section 3, of the 1968 Constitution, prohibit legislative branch appointments to the Commission. Furthermore, this Court should hold that the "Sunshine Amendment" adopted by implication the statutory method then employed in selecting and appointing members to the Commission.

Assuming arguendo that the trial court was correct in holding that the Governor must appoint all members of the Commission, the order appealed should nevertheless be reversed because the law held unconstitutional contained a severability clause. Even if not

severable, the Court should recognize the de facto officer doctrine and at the very least, stay any adverse judgment for a reasonable period of time to allow the Commission continuing viability until the Legislature reconstitutes the Commission.

Finally, it is submitted that Appellees lacked standing to challenge the provisions of the questioned statute regarding the removal of Commission members.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING SECTION 112.321(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Introduction

The so-called ethics reform movement, which generally is assigned historically to the post-Watergate era, actually began in Florida in 1967. The Legislature that year enacted the forerunner of what would be entitled the "Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees". Chapter 67-356, Laws of Florida. Of significance, too, was a proposal by the Constitutional Revision Commission that year to amend the State Constitution to provide that

[a] code of ethics for all state employees and non-judicial officers prohibiting conflict between public duty and private interest shall be prescribed by law.

The proposal was approved by the Legislature and adopted by the electorate as Article III, Section 18, of the Florida Constitution the following year, 1968.

The initial standards of conduct, which were similar to current law, applied only to state officers and employees. In 1969, however, public officers and employees of all counties, cities, and other

political subdivisions of the state were brought under these standards by Chapter 69-335, Laws of Florida.

At that time penalties for violating the ethics laws constituted grounds for dismissal from employment, removal from office, or other penalty "as provided by law." There being no other penalty provided by law, the 1970 Legislature introduced criminal sanctions into the Code of Ethics, making violations misdemeanors punishable by a fine not to exceed \$1,000 or imprisonment for up to one year. Chapter 70-144, Laws of Florida. A more detailed description of the provisions and intent of the early Code of Ethics may be found in Oldham v. Rooks, 361 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1978).

In the aftermath of Watergate, Florida (like many other states) created a Commission on Ethics to provide a means of administrative enforcement of the Code of Ethics. In conjunction with this shift to administrative enforcement, criminal penalties were deleted. Chapter 74-176, Laws of Florida.

Following substantial revisions of the Code of Ethics in 1975, the Attorney General opined that the Commission on Ethics was a part of the legislative branch of government. AGO 076-54 (March 10, 1976). That opinion was based upon the Commission's lack of executive-type enforcement powers, and upon the fact that the Legislature had not placed the Commission within one of the executive branch departments, as would have been required by Article IV, Section 6, Florida

Constitution, if the Commission had exercised a function of the executive branch.

In the 1976 general election, the voters overwhelmingly adopted Article II, Section 8 of the Florida Constitution, commonly known as the "Sunshine Amendment." So far as it is pertinent here, the Sunshine Amendment provides:

- Section 8. Ethics in government.—A public office is a public trust. The people shall have the right to secure and sustain that trust against abuse. To assure this right:
- (f) There shall be an independent commission to conduct investigations and make public reports on all complaints concerning breach of public trust by public officers or employees not within the jurisdiction of the judicial qualifications commission.
- (h) Schedule--On the effective date of this amendment and until changed by law:
- (3) The independent commission provided for in subsection (f) shall mean the Florida Commission on Ethics.

The adoption of the Sunshine Amendment had two primary effects upon the Commission on Ethics. First, the Commission was afforded constitutional status as an entity with constitutional powers and responsibilities. See, Florida Commission on Ethics v. Plante, 369 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1979), and Myers v. Hawkins, 362 So.2d 926 (Fla. 1978). Secondly, regardless of the "branch status" of the Commission previously, the Commission became an "independent commission" by direct action of the people of the State.

As previously noted, Section 112.321(1), Florida Statutes, currently provides for a nine member Commission on Ethics, with five members being appointed by the Governor, two members being appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the remaining two members being appointed by the President of the Senate. The Appellees challenged this method of appointment below, arguing that all nine members of the Commission are required by the Florida Constitution to be appointed by the Governor. The trial court agreed, finding that Article II, Section 3, Article X, Section 3, and Article IV, Section 6, Florida Constitution, require all members of the Commission on Ethics to be appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the Governor.

The Final Order of the trial court carries no presumption of correctness, as the Court found the statute to be unconstitutional.

Kass v. Lewin, 104 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1958).

Rather, the act of the Legislature comes to us clothed with presumed constitutionality and it remains the burden of one who contends for its invalidity to overcome this presumption even on appeal.

Larson v. Lesser, 106 So.2d 188, 191 (Fla. 1958). Because of the presumption of validity, the burden remains upon Appellees to demonstrate "beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute conflicts with some designated provision of the constitution." Metropolitan Dade County v. Bridges, 402 So.2d 411, 413 (Fla. 1981).

Appellants will show that although the 1885 Florida Constitution required the Governor to appoint all non-elective state officers, the 1968 Florida Constitution does not prohibit the present method of appointments to the Ethics Commission. Further, Appellants that it was contemplated by the framers of the Sunshine Amendment (Article II, Section 8, Florida Constitution) that the manner balance of appointments to the Commission be left to the legislative process. In separate sections, this brief will show that neither Governor's authority to fill vacancies [Article IV, Section 1 (f)], the administration of executive branch departments [Article IV, Section 6], nor the separation of powers provision [Article II, Section 3] prohibit legislative branch appointments to the Commission. Finally, the brief will discuss the validity of the qualifications for members of the Commission and the impact v. Askew, 358 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1 DCA 1978), which is the only Florida case on point.

At the outset, it should be noted that the question of the manner of appointment of Commission members is not governed by the U.S. Constitution, as the states are not required by the U.S. Constitution to abide by the doctrine of separation of powers. Parcell v. State of Kansas, 468 F. Supp. 1274, 1277 (D. Kansas 1979), affirmed sub nom. Parcell v. Governmental Ethics Commission, 639 F.2d 628 (10th Cir. 1980). One of the issues raised in Parcell challenged on separation of powers grounds the composition of the Kansas Governmental Ethics

Commission, the members of which were appointed by the Governor (5), the President of the Senate (2), the Speaker of the House (2), the Minority Leader of the House (1), and the Minority Leader of the Senate (1). The Federal District Court and the Supreme Court of Kansas (on a certified question from the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals) held that the method of appointment of the members of that Commission was not governed by the U.S. Constitution and did not violate the separation of powers doctrine adopted in Kansas.

Article IV, Section 1(f), Florida Constitution--The Governor's authority to fill vacancies

Appellants submit that Article IV, Section 1(f), controls the manner in which vacancies in office are to be filled, and that incorrectly read this provision to apply to all trial court including all initial appointments. This is appointments, demonstrated by the history of the vacancy provision, as expressed by the Constitution Revision Commission and legislative records included in the Record. See, Hayek v. Lee County, 231 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1970), and In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 343 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1977), regarding the value of such materials in constitutional construction.

The Constitution of 1885 contained an appointments provision mandating appointment by the Governor of all non-elective state and

county officers. That provision, Article III, Section 27, provided as follows:

The Legislature shall provide for the election by the people or appointment by the Governor of all State and county officers not otherwise provided for by this Constitution, and fix by law their duties and compensation.

Although the 1968 Constitution requires the Legislature to fix the duties and compensation of state and county officers [by Article II, Section 5(c)], the 1968 Constitution contains no express language mandating the election or appointment by the Governor of all state and county officers. In this situation, former Article III, Section 27, regarding appointments would become a statute, subject to modification by the Legislature, even if it is not inconsistent with the 1968 Constitution. Article XII, Section 10, Florida Constitution (1968).

Notably, the framers of the 1885 Constitution also felt that a provision regarding the filling of vacancies by the Governor was required (Article IV, Section 7):

When any office, from any cause, shall become vacant, and no mode is provided by this Constitution or by the laws of the State for filling such vacancy, the Governor shall have the power to fill such vacancy by granting a commission for the unexpired term.

Clearly, both the <u>vacancy</u> and the <u>appointments</u> provisions were intended to fulfill different purposes.

Early in the 1968 Constitution Revision Commission proceedings, the Executive Department Committee prepared a draft of a section to be placed in an article on general provisions. This draft (R 789-790) contained both the appointments and vacancy provisions, as well as a definition of "vacancy in office." By the time the Commission's June 30, 1966 preliminary draft was released, the language of the Executive Department Committee's draft was placed in Article II, Section 3, which still included both the appointments and vacancy provisions. (R 791-794)

The only transcribed testimony found in the Archives relating to appointments was that of the Honorable Charles R. Holley before the Executive Committee. (R 795-800) In the excerpt pertaining to appointments and vacancies included in the Record here, the suggestion is made that vacancies be filled by appointment by the Governor, but that the Legislature be allowed to provide for appointments by other than the Governor.

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