0/9 11-7-85 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE OCT 28 1985 COMMISSION ON ETHICS, : CLERK, SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA, ETC., : By_ Appellants, Chief Deputy Clerk . : CASE NO. 67,689 vs. : WILMA SULLIVAN and JOHN SULLIVAN, : Appellees. :

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Appeal taken from the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida (On Certification)

> STEPHEN MARC SLEPIN, Esquire and GEORGE L. WAAS, Esquire Slepin, Slepin & Waas 1114 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF is a plea for constitutionally exotic dispensation.

The Florida Commission on Ethics was created by the Legislature at §§112.320, 112.321, Fla. Stat. (as later amended by the Legislature) -- and was allowed at legislative sufferance to police financial disclosure conflicts, at Article II, §8(h), Schedule, Fla. Const. -- but is <u>not</u> (a) a fourth branch of Florida government, nor (b) a transcendental will-o-the-wisp uninstantiated in the branches of Florida government.

Article II, §3, Fla. Const., establishes a tripartite government: legislative, executive, judicial -- and prohibits unpermitted exercise of powers beyond the specified branches.

The "legislative" branch consists of "a Senate" and "a House of Representatives Article III, §1, Fla. Const. Appellant-agency is neither.

The "judicial" branch consists of "a Supreme Court, District Courts of Appeal, Circuit Courts and County Courts." Article V, §1, Fla. Const. Appellant-agency is none of these.

The "executive" branch remains.

Appellant Commission is a legislative creation, §§112.320, 112.321, Fla. Stat., subject to the Administrative Procedure Act, State Commission on Ethics v. Sullivan, 449 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1st

-3-

DCA 1984). [The A.P.A., Chapter 120, Fla. Stat., specifically "shall not apply to (1) The Legislature. (2) The courts," §120.50, Fla. Stat.]

Yet, the Appellant-Commission -- appointive by the Governor and by the Senate President and by the House Speaker, <u>§112.321, Fla. Stat.</u>, and removable by the Governor, President, Speaker and Supreme Court Chief Justice in concert, <u>§112.321,</u> <u>Fla. Stat.</u> -- clearly is violative of the Constitution's mandates respecting appointment (by the Governor) and removal (by the Governor).

The Constitution is clear that even a "board" must be "appointed by" and must serve "at the pleasure of the Governor," <u>Article IV, §6, Fla. Const.</u>, except under specified circumstances not here applicable.

Vacancies in office occur not only upon one leaving an existing office, but upon the <u>creation</u> thereof, <u>Article X, §3,</u> <u>Fla. Const.</u>, whereupon the Governor is to "fill by appointment any vacancy in state or county office," <u>Article IV, §1(f)</u>, Fla. Const., absent a constitutional provision to the contrary.

The Appellant-Commission flirts with a patent violation of the prohibitions of Article II, §3, Fla. Const., and Article II, §5, Fla. Const., by its claim to exemption from the executive branch of Florida government ... and from the three branches of Florida government per se.

Appellants' invocation of the thesis that a statute is incorporated into the Florida Constitution and thereby establishes the Florida Commission on Ethics as a constitutional body, disregards the legal history pertinent to the event, and is refuted by the jurisprudence of this state.

Appellees have indeed invoked the Removal/Disqualification provisions of §112.321, Fla. Stat.

The Supreme Court may not re-write §112.321(1), Fla. Stat., in derogation of legislative intent, in order manifestly to change and re-legislate the statute in constitutionally valid form.

Irrespective of which branch houses the Ethics Commission, §112.321(1), Fla. Stat. -- providing for appointment and removal -is constitutionally invalid.

ARGUMENT

Issue I

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING \$112.321(1), FLA. STAT., UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Sometime the vindication of the obvious is more important than the elucidation of the obscure ... especially when the obvious is under attack.

O. W. Holmes, Jr.

1. A Different Historical Prospective.

The Florida Commission on Ethics (FCOE) was created by statute, <u>§§112.320, 112.321, Fla. Stat.</u>, but ran into trouble under Chapter 75-199, Laws of Florida (1975) -- <u>viz.</u>, a ninemember body, but the Governor's appointees being only four, the House Speaker's two, the Senate President's two ... equalling only eight members.

The answer to the problem: the Governor shall appoint the ninth member pursuant to Article IV, §1, Fla. Const., because Chapter 75-199 "'created or continued' the office of ninth member of the Commission on Ethics," and a vacancy in state office -- which occurs upon creation thereof -- is to be filled by the Governor. <u>1976 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 076-152</u> (July 1, 1976).

Subsequently -- years after the adoption of the Sunshine

-6-

Amendment, Article II, §8, Fla. Const. -- the Legislature amended §112.321(1), Fla. Stat., to provide for five gubernatorial appointments, two by the House Speaker, two by the Senate President, <u>Chapter 82-98</u>, Laws of Florida (1982); whereby the Legislature evinced the <u>statutory</u> character of a statutorily-created (and amended) creature subject to non-constitutional, purely statutory legislation.

Meanwhile, in 1981, the FCOE blankly denied to these Appellees the protections of Chapter 120, Fla. Stat. (Florida's Administrative Procedure Act), and sustained a decision of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>State Commission on Ethics v.</u> <u>Sullivan</u>, 449 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), reh. den., cert. den. by this Honorable Court. The holding: the FCOE is subject to Chapter 120, Fla. Stat., and the circuit court's non-final order was affirmed.

Chapter 120, Fla. Stat. (the A.P.A.), is by its own terms <u>not</u> applicable to "(1) The Legislature." nor to "(2) The courts." §120.50, Fla. Stat.

Whereupon, the Division of Administrative Hearings in Case No. 83-2786R, did rule against the FCOE's challenge to the Division's jurisdiction, and did thereupon invalidate important FCOE "rules." That Final Order is now on appeal by FCOE to the First District Court of Appeal, Case No. BH-139.

-7-

So far forth, then, we know historically that: (a) the FCOE is a statutory creature, (b) the Legislature may alter, amend or presumably abolish it, and has so amended it, in the normal course of Article III, §7, activity, (c) and that FCOE is under and subject to the A.P.A., Chapter 120, Fla. Stat.

One final historical note. The Florida Commission on Ethics is nowhere referenced in or by the text proper of the Sunshine Amendment. It is only in the "Schedule," which is purely statutory, <u>16 C.J.S., Constitutional Law, §15</u>, that the statutory FCOE is mentioned. Even there, the Schedule does <u>not</u> declare that the "independent commission" required by Article II, §8(f), Fla. Const., is or shall be the FCOE. Rather, the Schedule expressly provides that the said independent commission "shall mean" the FCOE "until changed by law." <u>Article II, §8(h),</u> Fla. Const., Schedule.

Thus, we know that this statutory creature, treated legislatively as such again in 1982 (some six years after adoption of the Sunshine Amendment) is <u>at legislative sufferance</u> deputed to police Article II, §8(a)-(e), mandates "until changed by law."

It is in the effort to escape this constitutional, judicial and legislative history that the Appellant-agency makes herein its plea for a constitutionally exotic dispensation.

-8-

2. "Zeno's Paradox" Revived.

That "we can never get from point A to point B because there is an infinite number of distances, or half-spaces, to be traversed," is the infamous corruption of Zeno's thought by his avatars -- who classically mistook the infinitude of half-spaces to be traversed for the physical distance to be traveled from 'here' to 'there'.

Paradoxically, what Zeno was thought theoretically to be unable to do, but in reality could do, the FCOE asserts that it ought theoretically to be able to do, but constitutionally simply cannot do (as the learned trial judge below so ruled).

This perplexing paradox, i.e., the Appellant-agency's novel thesis, is reflected by FCOE's advocacy of the "incorporation by reference" thesis which ephemerally flowered in <u>Isley v. Askew</u>, 358 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), <u>quashed</u> at 372 So.2d 66 (Fla. 1979).

The <u>Isley</u> opinion employed the doctrine of "implication" to come to the unmediated conclusion -- bereft of supporting law -that the people of the State of Florida somehow incorporated §112.321, Fla. Stat., into the Constitution of the State of Florida.

It is upon this <u>fons et origo</u> <u>malorum</u> that the Appellantagency herein builds its case. The people of Florida, according to FCOE-Appellants, adopted a Sunshine Amendment enumerating certain functions at Article II, §8(a)-(e), Fla. Const., and

-9-

referencing as executor an independent commission at Article II, §8(f), which by statute was to "mean" but not to "be" a statutory commission at legislative sufferance, <u>Article II, §8(h)</u> -thereby incorporating into the Constitution this statutory creature.

Thus, according to this unique thesis, the people of Florida adopted as organic law the Legislature's power to decide which commission should serve as executor of certain constitutional mandates, <u>and</u>, by that very adoption, <u>nullified it</u> ... by making the FCOE a constitutional body contrary to the clear language of Article II, §8(h), Fla. Const., Schedule. A paradox to be conjured with, indeed.

The real paradox, of course, is that Zeno could and did get from point A to point B (traversing an infinitude of halfdistances) but that the Appellants' thesis gets nowhere constitutionally.

In fine, what began as a legislative annex to a constitutional amendment (i.e., a schedule to an amendment, which schedule is mere statutory legislation) shall now have become -- allegedly by the people's knowing act -- a whole constitutional sub-set, as if Jonah had swallowed the whale, rather than vice-versa.

In the event, however, the Appellant-agency's thesis is fundamentally flawed and has been proved to be wrong.

-10-

First, the Appellant-agency would have this Court make believe that the people of the State of Florida adopted Article II, §8, Fla. Const., for the purpose, among others, of nullifying Article II, §8(h) as a "Schedule", <u>or</u> that this Court ought to make believe that Article II, §8(h), is not a statutory schedule as it says that it is and as the people of the State of Florida adopted it. Without such legerdemain, Appellant-agency's thesis runs right into itself, textually and legally, and comes to a constitutional deadend.

Second, if the people of the State of Florida had adopted a self-nullifying amendment, in the sense above described, then the Legislature of the State of Florida would not have the authority by normal legislative means to alter a constitutional entity, as they plainly did in 1982 by amending §112.321, Fla. Stat., pursuant to Chapter 82-98, Laws of Florida (1982), and as the Appellant-agency herein admits that the Legislature may Absent repeal of Aristotle's Law of Contradiction, it cannot do. be that §112.321(1), Fla. Stat., is a constitutional provision, and yet the Legislature of the State of Florida may alter, amend or abolish it pursuant to standard legislative procedure under Article III, §7, Fla. Const. And, indeed, if Chapter 82-98, Laws of Florida (1982), which amended §112.321(1), Fla. Stat., is unconstitutional -- on the thesis that such statutory section has by some unknown means become a constitutional

-11-

provision -- then indeed §112.321, Fla. Stat., makes no sense whatsoever and is patently invalid as it stood in 1975 (before being legislatively amended).

Third, the Appellant-agency's thesis would lead us to believe that all legislatures are bound by the Legislature which "incorporated" §112.321 into the Florida Constitution, or are restrained from altering the statute on the grounds that the Sunshine Amendment was adopted in 1976 (cf., Chapter 82-98, Laws of Florida), which is directly contrary to the law of the State of Florida, which prohibits legislatures from binding its successors. W.O.W. v. Lake Worth Inlet District, 119 Fla. 782, 161 So. 717 (Fla. 1935). Indeed, it is the people of the State of Florida who may alter or amend their Constitution in whole or in part, Collier v. Gray, 116 Fla. 845, 157 So. 40 (Fla. 1934), and only then by the solemnities specified in and by Article XI, §6, of the Florida Constitution. Legislation requires its own solemnities as prescribed by the Constitution, Washington v. Dowling, 92 Fla. 601, 109 So. 588 (Fla. 1926), and there is no authority which would support the principle that a statute is a constitutional amendment. Indeed, a statute which attempts to amend the Constitution is itself invalid, and is violative of the constitutional methodology of amendment. Collier v. Gray, op. cit.

-12-

Fourth, the Appellant-agency's novel thesis assumes that by some unstated principle a statute may be "incorporated" into the Constitution of the State of Florida, and bases that assumption upon the more profound assumption that §112.321(1), Fla. Stat., is constitutional rather than unconstitutional or void. That is, if §112.321(1), Fla. Stat., has been void -- as adjudicated by the circuit court herein, sub judice -- then any attempted incorporation would have itself been invalid since a statute in violation of organic law, and so adjudged, is void. 10 Fla.Jur.2d, Statutes, §90. A statute which conflicts with the Florida Constitution never becomes law. 10 Fla.Jur.2d, Constitutional Law, §91. Indeed, to carry this argument further, continued reenactment by the Legislature of an unconstitutional statute does not have the effect of validating that statute, Hialeah Race Course, Inc. v. Gulfstream Park Racing Association, 245 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1971), since a statute must be valid at the time it became effective, State ex rel. Blalock v. Lee, 146 Fla. 385, 1 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1941), and the Legislature is without power to validate or vitalize an unconstitutional act, Smith Brothers v. Williams, 100 Fla. 642, 126 So. 367 (Fla. 1930), even by reenactment. Thus, the Appellant-agency's thesis rests upon an assumption foundationed by an erroneous, underlying assumption. No office was created. State v. Tippett, 134 So. 52 (Fla. 1931).

-13-

Fifth, as the Supreme Court of Louisiana put it in an interesting 1941 case:

We cannot subscribe to the proposition that a constitutional amendment validating and ratifying particular legislation can be considered as having the effect of making the legislative act a part of the Constitution. In the first place, the terms "ratify", "approve" or "validate" are not the equivalent of the terms "to make part of" or "to incorporate into." See, State v. Kohnke, 109 La. 838, 33 So. 793. All valid enactments of the Legislature may be said to be approved or ratified. They are ratified or approved by anticipation but they do not on that account become part of the organic law. Where a law passed by the Legislature is made dependent upon the adoption of a constitutional amendment and such amendment is afterward approved by the people, the statute becomes operative from the date the proposed amendment has been approved. ... Hence, the only benefit which may be derived by having the people actually validate and ratify the legislation and the proposed amendment is to give to the law a retrospective approval, that is to say that the law which has been ratified will become operative and have the effect from the date of its passage rather than from the date upon which the constitutional amendment receives approval.

Peck v. City of New Orleans, 5 So.2d 508 (S. Ct. La. 1941), reh. den., at 521.

Neither the doctrine of "incorporation by reference" nor by "implication" of a Florida statute into the Constitution of the State of Florida is supportable by reference to the jurisprudence or constitutional law of this state, and is flatly negated by the Constitution of the State of Florida.

Sixth, the law of the State of Florida is clear that where the words used in the Constitution are plain and clear, there is no necessity for resort to extrinsic means of interpretation, <u>State ex rel. West v. Gray</u>, 74 So.2d 114 (Fla. 1954), and ordinary language will prevail over some "construction" by the courts. <u>Jacksonville v. Continental Can Company</u>, 113 Fla. 168, 151 So. 488 (Fla. 1933). Thus, Appellant-agency's plea to this Court, that the Supreme Court of Florida either blink the statutory language of Article II, §8(h), Fla. Const., or find that the people of the State of Florida meant to nullify the statutory status of Article II, §8(h), upon adoption of the Sunshine Amendment, is without avail.

Finally, the spartan decision in <u>Isley v. Askew</u>, <u>op. cit.</u>, was quashed by this Court. A quashed decision is one that is annulled, overthrown, or voided, <u>Holland v. Webster</u>, 43 Fla. 85, 29 So. 625 (Fla. 1901), and has no precedential effect herein.

All of which foregoing law the Appellant-agency would invite this Honorable Supreme Court to disregard or reverse by indulgence of the esoteric thesis advanced by the FCOE in its effort to have a statutory annex transmuted into a specific provision of the organic law of the State of Florida, without

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